
 

Brian Napoli, Chairman                                             Tibbs Ahlberg, Vice-Chairman 

             

 

      

              COUNTY OF ORLEANS            

  PLANNING BOARD 

  14016 Route 31 West 

  Albion, New York 14411-9382 

(585) 589-3198 

 

 

County Planning Board Minutes 

 

Regular Meeting                       County Administration Building 

August 25, 2016                                                         Conference Room C, 7:00 p.m. 

  

CPB ATTENDING: Brian Napoli, Tibbs Ahlberg, Dan Strong, Terry Brown, Ron Vendetti, 

Monica Seeler, Andy Kludt, Marty Busch, Tom Fenton, Gary Watts, Gary 

Daum, Ed Urbanik, Paul Hendel 

 

LEGISLATOR: Ken DeRoller 

 

ELECTED 

OFFICIALS: Jim Simon, John Riggi 

 

CPB EXCUSED: Christine Buongiorne, Wes Miller, Kirk Myhill  

 

CPB ABSENT: Tom Keeler, Mike Grabowski, Andrew Cousins  

 

GUESTS: James Zelazny, Ed Zelazny, Philip D. Keppler, Daniel R. Seeler,Dan 

Wolfe, Dan Fitzgerald, Jim Simon 

 

STAFF:  Jim Bensley, Sarah Gatti, Rocky Navarro 

 

 

Chairman Brian Napoli called the regular meeting of the Orleans County Planning Board (CPB) 

to order at 7:00 p.m. welcoming all in attendance and noting the presence of Legislator Ken 

DeRoller.  



 

Dan Strong made a motion for APPROVAL of the minutes from the July 28, 2016 regular 

meeting as submitted, seconded by Marty Busch and carried unanimously (Paul Hendel and 

Brian Napoli abstaining due to their absence from said meeting).   

 

NEW BUSINESS 

New professional staff member, Rocky Navarro was introduced by Director Jim Bensley; 

members of the CPB welcomed Mr. Navarro kindly. Director Bensley noted that the Department 

would now be able to undertake an expanded scope of work in light of additional staff support.  

 

Ron Vendetti spoke of an amendment to the New York State Property Maintenance Code, 

effective October 3
rd

, banning the presence of any unlicensed motor vehicles on property. 

According to Mr. Vendetti, agricultural properties are exempted, to some extent, from this 

regulation but “casual” auto sales and similar uses will indeed be impacted. The Town of 

Murray, in which Mr. Vendetti is a code enforcement officer, has begun the process of informing 

residents of this change and is anticipating significant fallout from this ruling. Lastly, Mr. 

Vendetti stated his belief that zoning ordinances throughout the County would likely be in need 

of revision in light of this State law.   

 

Director Jim Bensley informed CPB members of the upcoming land-use training seminars to 

take place in Niagara County as well as Batavia. Staff explained the former would be similar to 

the Orleans County training held in June whereas the Batavia training will be an all-day event. 

Additional details concerning the latter training are not yet available but will be provided upon 

their release.  

 

Zoning Referrals 

 

16-21 SHELBY Request for Site Plan Review and Special Use Permit to Operate  

   Motor Vehicle Repair Shop in Existing Structure at 11352 Maple  

   Ridge Rd. in Hamlet (HA) District.  

 

Code enforcement officer, Dan Wolfe, provided background information on the proposal. Mr. 

Wolfe explained the site had previously been the Don Evans garage for a period of 60 years.  

Although closed for some time, the shop had been registered as a motor vehicle repair shop until 

10-31-15 at which point the license had lapsed; this lapse is for a period of less than one year. 

Mr. Wolfe continued, saying that Don Evans had maintained the building in good condition 

through the years. Gary Daum noted that Maple Ridge Rd. has become a busy thoroughfare over 

the years and can become particularly traffic-filled during the school year as the high school lets 

out; Mr. Daum agreed with the staff report that traffic patterns should be considered with regard 

to this referral. He further noted that the applicant may wish to install caution signs on his 

property for the safety of his customers. Tibbs Ahlberg then inquired about the location of the 

entrance and exit of the site; Gary Watts stated there are points of ingress/egress both on Maple 

Ridge Rd. and West Ave. Extension. The West Ave. driveway, he continued, is the intended 

Orleans County Planning Board Minutes    2      8-25-16 



 

 

location for exiting vehicles. Marty Busch questioned whether any exterior renovations would be 

undertaken to which Dan Wolfe responded that he was confident the Town of Shelby Planning 

Board would address such issues. Dan Strong addressed the issue of parking in winter and the 

impact snow would have on this site, especially given its small size. Mr. Strong sought 

confirmation that provisions had been made for this situation. Mr. Wolfe responded by stating 

that the applicant will be limited to three or four vehicles (due to lot size) and elaborated further 

saying that screening would be required for any outdoor storage on site. Marty Busch noted that 

since the intersection is so busy in this area, lighting and sight lines are very important.  

 

RECOMMENDATION for 16-21: Ron Vendetti made a motion for APPROVAL WITH the 

following CONDITIONS, seconded by Gary Daum and carried by all voting members (Gary 

Watts abstaining): 

 

1. Site plan shall comply with the Town of Shelby Zoning Regulations to the  

  satisfaction of the Planning Board.  

 

2. Site plan shall identify parking spaces and internal circulation patterns to  

  comply with minimum parking space and lot requirements in number,   

  orientation/size, and handicapped accommodations. 

 

3. Site plan does not explicitly provide lighting and signage plans. Plans shall  

  comply with the Town of Shelby Zoning Regulations to the satisfaction of the  

  Planning Board. 

 

4. Vehicles exiting the northernmost bay shall not reverse into or out of the bay  

  from or onto Route 31A. 

 

5. A mobile food service trailer is currently located on the northwest side of the  

  existing building structure. Trailer shall be removed prior to site operation. 

 

16-22 GAINES  Request for Moratorium (180 Days) on Industrial Solar Energy  

  Generation Facilities Applicable to all Zoning Districts.    

 

Dan Strong said this request stemmed from concern brought about by the large-scale solar 

industry’s interest in the County. Mr. Strong explained the Town of Gaines pursued a 

moratorium to create a “time-out” period to craft zoning regulations regarding this matter. Paul 

Hendel inquired if any model regulations existing regarding commercial solar facilities; County 

Planner Sarah Gatti stated she had distributed such a model at the 7-28-16 meeting of the CPB 

and offered to digitally send the file to Mr. Hendel.  

 

RECOMMENDATION for 16-22: Andy Kludt made a motion for APPROVAL, seconded by 

Terry Brown and carried by all voting members (Dan Strong abstaining). 

 

Orleans County Planning Board Minutes                     3      8-25-16 



 

 

16-23 SHELBY  Request for Amendment to Zoning Ordinance (Text and Map): 

Addition of Wildlife Refuge Protection Overlay District (WRPOD).     

 

Dan Wolfe provided details about this referral to the best of his ability but noted that the Town 

Board had initiated this amendment and submitted the application to the CPB. Mr. Wolfe stated 

the distance of the WRPOD as 3,000 feet from the border of the Iroquois National Wildlife 

Refuge and directed the CPB to the page of the proposed law containing a list of prohibited uses. 

The following two uses drew much attention: agricultural product processing facility and 

agricultural distribution center. Planner Gatti interjected relaying her conversation with John 

Brennan, of New York State Agriculture & Markets (NYSDA&M), who recommended two of 

the prohibited uses regarding agriculture be removed. It was Mr. Brennan’s belief that 

NYSDA&M would find these uses unreasonably restrictive on farm operations in an agricultural 

district and furthermore that they met the definition of a farm operation. Dan Strong inquired of 

the location of the potential stone quarry to be located within the WRPOD; Mr. Wolfe indicated 

that site to be located on the eastern extent of the District. Mr. Strong wondered if the adoption 

of the WRPOD would then prohibit the proposed quarry from moving forward to which Mr. 

Wolfe answered in the affirmative. Paul Hendel concurred with Ms. Gatti, stating that Orleans 

County is blessed to have this resource (Iroquois National Wildlife Refuge) and that it must be 

preserved. Mr. Hendel continued by stating that Orleans is an agricultural County and the 

prohibited agricultural uses should be examined carefully. Ron Vendetti questioned whether 

those prohibitions would be enforceable in an agricultural district to which Director Bensley 

responded in the negative. Gary Daum asked Mr. Wolfe what uses, if any, would be rendered 

non-conforming by the adoption of the WRPOD; Mr. Wolfe stated a runway and kennel would 

become non-conforming uses.   

 

RECOMMENDATION for 16-23: Paul Hendel made a motion for APPROVAL WITH the 

following CONDITIONS, seconded by Tom Fenton and carried by all voting members (Joe 

Sidonio and Gary Watts abstaining):  

  

 1. The setback of the WRPOD from the border of the Iroquois National Wildlife Refuge 

  shall be stated in the text of Local Law 2 of 2016 and similarly shown on the Zoning  

  Map.   

 

 2. The prohibited uses “Agricultural Product Processing Facility” and “Agricultural  

  Product Distribution Center” (items 9 and 10 in § 598.b) shall be removed pursuant to 

  guidance of New York State Agriculture and Markets Law 25-AA.  

 

16-24 KENDALL  Request for Moratorium (180 Days) on Industrial Solar Energy 

Generation Facilities Applicable to all Zoning Districts.    

 

Ms. Gatti stated this referral is similar, if not identical, to referral 16-22 (Gaines). Andy Kludt 

noted the Town of Kendall proposes adoption of this moratorium as a way to “get ahead of the 

game” with regard to large-scale solar projects.  

 

RECOMMENDATION for 16-24: Ron Vendetti made a motion for APPROVAL, seconded by 

Terry Brown and carried by all voting members (Dan Strong and Andy Kludt abstaining). 

Orleans County Planning Board Minutes         4        8-25-16 



 

 

16-25 YATES  Request for Use Variance for Construction of Meteorological 

 Tower on W. Yates Center Rd (tax parcel # 12.-1-16.21) in 

 Agricultural/Residential (AR) District.     

Dan Wolfe stated the applicant has requested a use variance to construct a Meteorological Tower 

(Met Tower). Jim Simon offered further explanation noting the moratorium the Town is under 

does in fact include Met Towers. Mr. Simon called the moratorium a time-out in order to get 

their regulations in order. Dan Fitzgerald, of Lighthouse Wind, proceeded to speak citing the 

purpose of this use variance is to obtain wind data to move forward with the project. Paul Hendel 

asked for a detailed summary of the need for a Met Tower; Mr. Fitzgerald explained the Met 

Tower would collect wind pattern data and lead to final siting considerations. Mr. Hendel then 

asked if any other device existed to gain such data. Mr. Fitzgerald stated that LIDAR and 

SODAR can be used for that purpose although the data provided by these technologies is not as 

accurate. Furthermore, LIDAR and SODAR do not have the same components as a Met Tower 

and are typically used in conjunction with such towers rather than as standalone measurement 

devices.  Mr. Hendel then inquired if the absence of such data would prevent Lighthouse Wind 

from knowing where to site wind turbines; Mr. Fitzgerald responded in the affirmative. Gary 

Daum inquired if the proposed Met Tower fell within the study area to which Mr. Fitzgerald 

responded that yes, it did. Tibbs Ahlberg wondered how long the Met Tower was to be in use to 

which Mr. Fitzgerald explained it would be used for a period of three years. Director Bensley 

then asked whether the Article 10 process would be significantly affected by the lack of a Met 

Tower and its data; Mr. Fitzgerald responded affirmatively. Ed Urbanik then questioned the 

validity of considering wind energy an essential service; Director Bensley responded that to the 

extent that wind is considered a public utility, it is an essential service. Paul Hendel inquired if 

staff could provide an explanation of the “lightened” use variance tests applicable to this referral. 

Ms. Gatti explained that case law (Cellular Telephone Company v. Rosenberg, Consolidated 

Edison Company v. Public Service Commission) has supported relaxed standards for use 

variances so long as the project is found to provide an “essential service”. The essential service 

applicable to this use variance is wind energy which New York Courts have found to be an 

essential service. The same courts have also found Met Towers to be part of this essential service 

designation as they provide data and are used in the siting and development of wind projects. 

Gatti further explained the lightened use variance standards as follows: 

  1) The relief is required to render safe and adequate service. 

  2) There are compelling reasons, economic or otherwise, for needing the variance. 

The applicant set forth the following proofs regarding these standards
1
: 

  1) Facility is Necessary 

  2) No Existing Viable Alternatives Exist 

  3) Proposed Site Meets Technological Objectives 

  4) Relief Necessary and Unavoidable  

RECOMMENDATION for 16-25: Ron Vendetti made a motion for APPROVAL, seconded by 

Dan Strong and carried by all voting members (Gary Daum and Ed Urbanik abstaining). 

                                                 
1
 Full staff report, with comprehensive explanation of these standards, on Referral 16-25 available upon request.  

Orleans County Planning Board Minutes                      5        8-25-16 



 

 

16-26 ALBION (V)  Request for Site Plan Review for Freestanding Sign at 439 West  

    Ave. in General Commercial (GC) District. 

 

Ron Vendetti stated this sign application was only referred because it is an addendum to a site 

plan review previously heard by the CPB. At the time of original referral, the applicant had not 

intended to erect a sign but in the interim has decided otherwise. Mr. Vendetti stated the sign 

meets all setback requirements and that there are no sight line problems associated with its 

location. He then noted the sign will be externally illuminated either by upturned or downturned 

lights. Dan Strong questioned the height of the sign; Mr. Vendetti responded that it would be six 

feet in height.  

 

RECOMMENDATION for 16-26: Gary Daum made a motion for APPROVAL WITH the 

following CONDITIONS, seconded by Andy Kludt and carried by all voting members (Ron 

Vendetti abstaining):  

  

1. Site Plan shall comply with the Village of Albion Zoning Ordinance to the 

satisfaction of the Planning Board. 

 

2. The freestanding sign location shall not be an obstruction to sight lines for vehicles 

attempting to exit the property. 

 

3. Lighting, if any, should be constructed as to minimize any ambient light pollution and 

shall conform to Village of Albion Zoning Ordinance. 

 

OTHER BUSINESS 

 

Paul Hendel spoke of the recent death of Michael Sawyer, CEO of WNY Energy, and his 

contribution to the County. Mr. Hendel wished to dispel any rumor regarding the future of the 

company and outlined a conversation he had with the company’s Board of Directors: the Board 

is working hard to maintain the vision of Mr. Sawyer and is expecting continued growth. 

 

Legislator DeRoller stated the imperativeness of taking planning and land use seriously in this 

County and noted that with additional staff support it would now be possible to expand upon 

that. Mr. DeRoller noted the upcoming Western Orleans Comprehensive Plan update, the Local 

Waterfront Revitalization Program update as well as the planned upgrade of six Erie Canal 

bridges in the County. The latter of which have been funded, in partial or whole, by State money. 

Paul Hendel thanked Legislator DeRoller for his support of the Department of Planning and 

Development. 

 

Brian Napoli extended his gratitude to Vice-Chairman Tibbs Ahlberg for chairing last month’s 

meeting.  

 

Orleans County Planning Board Minutes         6       8-25-16 



 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

There being no further business, Terry Brown made a motion to ADJOURN at 8:27 p.m., 

seconded by Andy Kludt and carried unanimously.   

 

Respectfully Submitted,  

 

 

Sarah E. Gatti 

Acting Executive Secretary 

Orleans County Planning Board Minutes                 7      8-25-16 


